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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Plaintiff,

No. 1:11-cv-01371-DB-egb

v Cr. No. 109-cr-10030JDB-1

LATONIA CROOM,
Defendant

N N N N N N N N

ORDER DENYING & DISMISSING MOTION PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 2255,
DENYING CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY,
CERTIFYING APPEAL NOT TAKEN IN GOOD FAITH, AND
DENYING LEAVE TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS ON APPEAL

On December7, 2011, Defendant Latonia Croomfiled a motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 2255alleging thattrial counselprovided ineffective assistanderring her sentencing hearing
(Docket Entry (D.E.") 1.) OnJune 27, 2012, the Coutirected the United States to respond to
the motionto vacate (D.E. 2.) On November 15, 2012 hé United Statesiled an answer
contendinghat Defendant’s motion is without mer(D.E. 14.)
l. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 16, 2009, a federal grand jury returnedexencount indictment against
Latonia Croomand Christopher bry. (Indictment, Criminal (Cr.”) D.E. 1) Croom was
charged with conspiracy to possess with intentistribute and distribution of “Ecstady 3,
4-Methylenedioxy Amphetaminen violation of 21 U.S.C8846 (Count One); possession of
approximately Q0 dosage units of “Ecstasy”, 3;Methylenedioxy Amphetamineith intent to

distributeand distribution, in violation of 21 U.S.€.841(a)(1) and 18 U.S.@.2 (CountTwo);
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possession of approximately 200 dosage units of “Ecstasy*Mg&thdylenedioxy Anphetamine
with intent to distributeand distribution, in violation of 21 U.S.@.841(a)(1) and 18 U.S.&@.2
(CountThreg; possession of approximately 300 dosage units of “Ecstasy-“M&tHylenedioxy
Amphetaminewith intent to distributeand distributbn, in violation of 21 U.S.C§ 841(a)(1) and
18 U.S.C.8 2 (Count Four); possession approximately300 dosage units of “Ecstasy”, 3; 4
Methylenedioxy Amphetamineith intent to distributeand distribution, in violation of 21 U.S.C.
8841(a)(1) and 18 &.C. § 2(Count Five);and possession of firearmisy a convicted felon
(CountSeven. (Id. at -7.)On July 21, 2009Croompled guilty to Count®©neand Severf the
indictment, pursuant to a written plea agreement. (Minute (“Min.”) EntryD@&.37.)

Theplea agreement provided as follows:

Come now the parties herein, the defendBATONIA CROOM, being
represented by couns@ll. DIANNE SMOTHERS and the United States being
represented byERRY R. KITCHEN, Assistant United States Attorney for the
WesterrDistrict of Tennessee and hereby agree as follows.

1. The following plea agreement constitutes the entire agreement between
the parties and the parties agree that any issues not specifically addresssd by th
plea agreement shall be resolved by the Court in accordance with the applicable
statues, guidelines, rules and case law.

2. The defendant agrees to plead guilty to Cwuidic] 1 and 7 of the
Indictment in the abovstyled causeThe defendant will pay the2$0.00 special
assessment prior to sentergein

3. There is no agreement as to the appropriate criminal history of the
defendant.

4, Should it be judged by the Government that the defendant has committed
or attempted to commit any additional crimes or has engaged in any conduct
constituting, obtructing or impeding justice within the meaning of United States
Sentencing Guidelines Section 3C1.1 or has failed to make any court appearances
in this case, from the date of the defentasigning of this plea agreement to the
date of the defenddst ntencing, or if the defendant attempts to withdraw
his/her plea, the Government will be released from its obligations and would



become free to argue for any sentence within statutory li®itsh a breach by
the defendant would not release the defendam this plea of guilty.

5. Based on the Defendant’s anticipated future assistance to the Government,
it is contemplated that the Government may recommend to the Court a departure
in the Defendant’s sentence pursuant to U.S. Sentencing Guidglsi€k.1and

18 U.S.C. 8§ 3553(e). This would be solely within the discretion of the
Government and is not part of the plea agreem®8uobstantial assistance is
understood by both parties to require good faith during all phases of the
cooperation period, including the Defendant’s provision of complete and truthful
information whichassists in the investigation or prosecution of other individuals
and complete and truthful testimony at subsequent proceedings when ridexled.
Defendant acknowledges that the Governmedégermination of whether the
Defendant has cooperated fully and provided substantial assistance, and the
Government’'s assessment of the value, truthfulness and completeness of the
Defendant’s assistance, is solely within the judgment and discretion of the
Government and shall be binding upon the Defendant.

6. The parties agree that the Government will recommend the following: (1)
that the Defendantceivea threelevel reduction for acceptance of responsibility
under U.S. Sentencing Guidelings3EL.1; and (2) that the Defendant be
sentenced at the lowest end of the applicable guideline range.

7. The Defendant is aware that Title 18 United States Code, section 3742
affords him/her the right to appeal the sentence imposed in this case.
Acknowledging this, in exchange for the undertakings made by the United State
in this plea agreement, the defendant hereby waives all rights conferred by
Section 3742 to appeal any sentence imposed, including any restitution order, or
to appeal the manner in which the sentence was imposed, unless the sentence
exceeds the maximum permitted by statute or is the result of an upward departure
from the guideline range that the court establishes at sentefitiaglefendant
further understands that nothing in this agreemerit affact the governmetd

right and/or duty to appeal as set forth in Title 18, United States Code, Section
3742(b).However, if the United States appeals the defenglaeintence pursuant

to Section 3742(b), the defendant shall be released from the a@over of
appellate rightsBy signing this agreement, the defendant acknowledges that
he/she has discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this agreement with his/her
attorney.The defendant further agrees, together with the United States, to request
thatthe district court enter a specific finding that the deferidam&iver of his/her

right to appeal the sentence to be imposed in this case was knowing and
voluntary.

8. The defendant understands and agrees that the Court will make the final
determinatiorof facts as to any sentence and as to any mitigating or aggravating
factors concerning the sentence to be impo&dderse rulings by the Court shall
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not be grounds for the withdrawal of the Defendant’s guilty plea or to appeal any
sentence imposedihe Gurt is not limited to consideration of the facts and
events provided by the Government.

9. There are no other agreements between and among the parties to this
agreement. The defendant enters this agreement freely, knowingly, and
voluntarily, and upon thadvice ofcounsel.

(Plea Agreement, CD.E. 38at1-4.)

On April 11, 2011, the Couentencedefendant tdhirty-six months of imprisonment,

to be followed by ahreeyear term of supervised releag®lin. Entry, Cr.D.E. 101.) The

Court’s judgmentvas entered oApril 12, 2011 (Judgment*J.”), Cr.D.E. 102.) Croondid not

appeal.

On December7, 2011, Defendant filed this motion to vacate alleging tieatattorney,

Smadhers provided ineffective assistand®y failing to investigate anahallerge the twopoint

enhancement to her Criminal History Category under United States Sentendoig)ir@s

("U.S.S.G.”) 84A1.1(d) for a warrant outstanding at the time of Defendant’s a(iz&. 1 at -

2)

STANDARD OF REVIEW
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255(a),

[a] prisoner in custody under sentence of a court established by Act of Congnessael

the right to be released upon the ground that the sentence was imposed in violation of the
Constitution or laws of the United States, or that the courtwstut jurisdiction to

impose such sentence, or that the sentence was in excess of the maximum authorized by
law, or is otherwise subject to collateral attack, may move the court whipbsed the
sentence to vacate, set aside or correct the sentence.

“A prisoner seeking relief under 28 U.S.€2255 must allege eithrer(1) an error of

constitutional magnitude; (2) a sentence imposed outside the statutory lin{83;aor error of



fact or law that was so fundamental as to render the entire proceedatd.inShort v. United
Sates, 471 F.3d 686, 691 (6th Cir. 200@)tation omitted)internal quotation marks omitted).

“[A] 8 2255 motion is not a substitute for a direct appdray v. United Sates, 721 F.3d
758, 761 (6th Cir. 2033 (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted).
“[N]Jonconstitutional claims that could have been raised on appeal, but were not, may not be
asserted in collateral proceedirig§tone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465, 477 n.10 (197@)itation
omitted) “Defendants must assert their claims in the ordinary course of trialiraatl @ppeal.
Grant v. United Sates, 72 F.3d 503, 506 (6th Cir. 1996). This rule is not absolute:

If claims have been forfeited by virtue of ineffective assistance of couhsal, t

relief under8§ 2255 would be available subject to the standar&otkliand v.

Washington, 466 U.S.668[] (1984).In those rare instances where the defaulted

claim is of an error not ordinarily cognizable or constitutional error, lwuethor

is committed in a context that is so positively outrageous as to indicate a

“complete miscarriage of justiceit seems to us that what is really being asserted
is a violation of due process.

Even constitutional claims that could have been raised on direct appeal, but wei# not, w

be barred by procedural default unless thert#ant demonstrates cause and prejudice sufficient
to excuse his failure to raise these issues previokbkiMobani v. United Sates, 287 F.3d 417,
420 (6th Cir. 2002) (withdrawal of guilty pledeveler v. United Sates, 269 F.3d 693, 6989
(6th Cir. 2001) (new Supreme Court decision issued during pendency of direct ;dpiudab)v.
United Sates, 229 F.3d 550, 552 (6th Cir. 2000) (trial erro’siernatively, a defendant may
obtain review of a procedurally defaulted claim by demonstrathmatheis ‘actualy innocent.”
Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 622 (1998)itation omitted)

After a 8 2255 motion is filed, it is reviewed by the Court ahglf it plainly appears

from the motion, any attached exhibits, and the record of prior proceedings that thg party
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is not entitled to relief, the judge must dismiss the motion.” Rule 4(b), Rules Governing
Section 2255 Proceedings for the United States District CoBexijon 2255 Rulés. “If the
motion is not dismissed, the judge must order the United Sattimsey to file an answer,
motion, or other response within a fixed time, or to take other action the judge may ktder
The movant is entitled to reply to the GovernmemesponseRule 5(d), Section 2255 Rules.
The Court may also direct the parti@sprovide additional information relating to the motion.
Rule 7(a) Section 2255 Rules.

“In reviewing a8 2255 motion in which a factual dispute arisése habeas court must
hold an evidentiary hearing to determine the truth of the petit®redaims” Valentine v.
United Sates, 488 F.3d 325, 333 (6th Cir. 2007) (quotifigner v. United Sates, 183 F.3d 474,
477 (6th Cir. 1999))* [N]o hearing is required if the petitioner's allegations cannot be accepted
as true because they are contradicted byeherd, inherently incredible, or conclusions rather
than statements of fa¢t.ld. (quoting Arredondo v. United States, 178 F.3d 778, 782 (6th Cir.
1999)).Where the judge considering tB2255 motion also presided over the criminal case, the
judge may rely on his or her recollection of the prior cBsmton v. United Sates, 94 F.3d 227,
235 (6th Cir. 1996)see also Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 n.4 (1977)[A] motion
under 82255 is ordinarily presented to the judge who presided at the original conviction and
sentencing of the prisonen some cases, the judgerecollection of the events at issue may
enable him summarily to dismiss8&2255 motion. . . ). Defendant has the burden of proving
that he is entitled to relief by a preponderancéhefdvidencePough v. United Sates, 442 F.3d
959, 964 (6th Cir. 2006).

A claim that ineffective assistance of counsel has deprived a defendant of this Six

Amendment right to counsel is controlled by the standards stat&dickland v. Washington,
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466 U.S. 668 (1984).To demonstrate deficient performance by counsel, a petitioner must
demonstrate thdtounsels representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.
Id. at 687—88.

A court considering a claim of ineffective assistance mustyappistrong

presumption” that counsét representation was within tHavide rangé of

reasonable professional assistang@rickland, 466 U.S.] at 689. . . . The

challengers burden is to shovithat counsel made errors so serious that counsel

was not functionig as the‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth
Amendment.1d.[] at 687 . . ..

Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 787 (2011).

To demonstrate prejudice, a prisoner must estabdiskasonable probability that, but for
counsels unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.
Srickland, 466 U.S.at 694 “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine
confidence in the outcomeld.

It is not enough “to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the

outcome of the proceeding.3rickland, 466 U.S.]Jat 693. . . . Counsel$ errors

must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial wholie resu
is reliable.”ld.[] at 687 . . ..

Richter, 131 S. Ct. av87-88 see also id. at 79172 (‘In assessing prejudice und&rickland,

the question is not whether a court can be certain coansefformance had no effect on the
outcome or whether it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been establshedaf
acted differently.. . . The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just
conceivable.”(citations omitted));Wong v. Belmontes, 558 U.S. 15, 2742009) (per curiam)

(“But Srickland does not require the State ‘tolle out [a more faorable outcome] to prevail.

“[A] court need not determine whether coutsegberformance was deficient before

examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant ” Srickland, 466 U.S. at 697If a
reviewing court finds a lack of prejudice, it need not determine whether, in fact, ¢eunsel
performance was deficierit.



Rather, Srickland places the burden on the defendant, not the State, to shosasonable
probability’ that the result would have been differé(diting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692)

“SurmountingSrickland’s high bar isnever an easy taskPadilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S.
356, 371 (2010).

An ineffectiveassistance claim can function as a way to escape rules of waiver
and forfeiture and raise issues not presented at trial, and Switikeand standard

must be applied witlscrupulous care, lest “intrusive pdsal inquiry” threaten

the integrity of the very adversary process the right to counsel is meant to serve
Srickland, 466 U.S. at 683-90]. Even underde novo review, the standard for
judging counseéb representation is a most deferential obklike a later
reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings, knew of
materials outside the record, and interacted with the client, with opposing counsel,
and with the judgelt is “all too tenpting” to “seconeguess counsel assistance
after conviction or adverse sentendel] at 689; see also Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S.

685, 707] (2002); Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 37R(1993). The question

is whether an attornéy representation amounted to incompetence under
“prevailing professional norms,” not whether it deviated from best ipescor

most common custonftrickland, 466 U.S.[ at 690].

Richter, 131 S. Ct. at 788.
1. ANALYSIS
Croom contends that her attorney performed deficiently when she failedestigate
and object to a twepoint enhancement to her Criminal History Category under U.S.S.G.
84A1.1(d) for a warrant outstanding tite time of her arres{D.E. 1 at }2.) Defendant’s
presentence report (“PSR”) states:
Pursuant to U.S.S.G[ ]4A1.1(d), if the defendant committed the instant offense
while under any criminal justice sentence, including probation, parole, supervised
release, imprisonment, work release, or escape status, add two (02) Téweels.
defendant had an active probation warrant in Chester Court Case No.-12GS1
200341854, 1855 at the time of the instant offenBgo (02) points are therefore
added.

(PSR 756.)



On February 18, 2011, counsel filed written objections to the PSRdng an objection
to the calculation of Defendant’s Criminal History, stating:

Defendant states that although she did have this prior conviction she had no
knowledge of any probationiotation warrant.It was dismissed after apparently
sitting inactive for years.

To the best of Defendant’'s knowledge, the warrant concerned payment of
fines/costs and simply remained ‘live’ until those amounts were fiaigpears
there was never any caduproceeding regarding the warrant, even though
Defendant had contact with that Court while this warrant was outstanding.

Defendant states that given the length of time this warrant apparently ‘sat’
inactive, to add thegtwo] additional criminal higiry point[s] which puf]
Defendant into a higher criminal history category is inequitable.

(Cr.D.E. 94 at 3.)

The probation officer responded to the objection inSkeor Addendum to the PSR,
stating:

Pursuant to Application Note 4 of U.S.S&4A1.1, “A defendant who commits

the instant offense while a violation warrant from a prior sentence is outstanding
(e.g., a probation, parole, or supervised release violation warrant) shall be deemed
to be under a criminal justice sentence for the purposes of this provision if that
sentence is otherwise countable, even if that sentence would have expired absent
such warrant.”In this case, Probation Officer Holly Hemby filed a probation
violation on the defendant based on the defendant’s failure to pay caisrbods

fines, the defendant’s failure to pay supervision fees, the defendant’s failure to
report to the case officer as instructed, and the defendant’s failure to praxide pr

of employmentJudge Larry McKenzie signed the warrant on July 2, 200k
warrant remained active until it was dismissed on June 26, 220%uch, the
defendant committed the instant offense while under a criminal justice sentence.

(D.E. 1-2 at 2.) Counsel did naisethe objection during the sentencing hearing.

The Courtremllectsthatthe drug quantity attributable to Defendant i@90dosages or
2750 grams of Ecstasyesulting in a base offense level of twesty. The base offense level
was adjusted upward by two points because Defendant was a felon in possessioeaoia f

resulting in an adjusted offense level of tweaight. The Court granted a thréevel reduction
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for Defendant’'s full acceptance of responsibiliffhe United States made no objection.
Defendant’'soffense level became twentiye. Pursuant to théerms of the negotiated plea
agreement, the United States mo¥adan additional threéevel downward departure, to offense
level twentytwo, based on Defendant’'s assistance in prosecutirgomspirators.Croom’s
advisory sentencing guidelines range vi@sy-six to fifty-seven months in prisoimhe United
States also recommended that the Court impose a sentence at the tdvthergliidelines range.
Counsel urged the Court for leniency in formulating Defendant’s sentence baBefeodant’s
exemplary onductduring her release pending sentencing and family concerns.

This Court believed that Defendant realized her bad choices, but had to consider the
prolonged nature of her criminal conduthe Court granted an additional thlegel downward
departureto offense level nineteen and imposed a term of tsikymonths in prison, to be
followed by three years of supervised release.

Defendant contends that, had counsel pursued the Criminal History objection, she would
have been eligible for a shorter samte under the Sentencing Guidelines’ safety valve
provision. D.E. 1 at 2.)The United States’ responds that ltontention is meritless because the
outstanding warrant for Defendant’s arrest was vélidE. 14 at 7.)

The Guidelines are clear thaif the defendant has an outstanding violation wariet,
Court must add two points toehcriminal history.See U.S.S.G. 8§ 4A1.1(d)The probation
officer correctly cited toApplication Note 4 to U.S.S.G8 4A1.1. The sentencing courwvas
unde no obligation to inquire into the warrant’s validitynited States v. Ramirez-Ramirez, 296
Fed. App’x 330, 331 (4th Cir. 200®er curiam) United Sates v. Davis, 313 F.3d 1300, 1365

06 (11th Cir. 2002)United States v. Mateo, 271 F.3d 11, 16 (1st Cir. 2001)nited Sates v.
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Anderson, 184 F.3d 479, 481 (5th Cir. 199@ker curiam) United States v. Elmore, 108 F.3d 23,
27-28 (3d Cir. 1997).

Likewise, Tennessee law provides Defendant with no support for her argunienin
of probation“expires when the terrof the sentenceis completed. Brooks v. Brooks, No.
M2007-00351€OA-R3-CV, 2009WL 928283 at *:n.15 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2009) (citingate v.
Ruiz, 204 S.W.3d 772 (Tenn. 200&ate v. Beard, 189 S.W.3d 730 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2005)
Kely v. Sate, 61 S.W.3d 341 (TennCrim. App. 2000)).The Tennessee Supreme Court
addressed the effect of a probation violation warrant on a term of probaS@tein. Shaffer, 45
S.W.3d 553 (Tenn. 20013tatingsuch awarrant issued prior to the expiration of a probationary
period ‘commences the revocation proceedings and theratgyrupts the running of the
probationary perioduntil such time asthe trial court [may] hear and determine the issue raised
by the [warrant].” Shaffer, 45 S.W.3d at 55femphasisadded) (quotind/icGuire v. Sate, 292
S.wW2d 190, 193 (Tenn. 1956)Under Tennessee law, Defendarprobationary period from her
2003 conviction dichot expire untithe warrant was dismissed dane 26, 200%ler argument
is without merit. Sheremained under a prior criminal jgihentwithin the ambit of Guideline
8 4A1.1(d) during theommission othis federabffense

Finally, the safety valve provision provided in U.S.S8&C1.2 does afford a trial court
limited discretion to depart from a statutory minimum sentengeweve, U.S.S.G.
“8§ 5C1.2(a)(2). . .renders a defendanteligible for the benefit of the safety valve if he or she
possessed a firearm in connection with affense”. United States v. Likins, 84 Fed. Apix 504,
512 (6th Cir. 2003)Croomwas not eligible for theadety valve provisionbecause she admitted

shewas a felon in possession of a firearm.
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The Guidelines mandated enhancement of Defendant’'s criminal history categaory
category | to category lICounsel didargue that the warrant was stale and not edititb
consideration.Counsel is not ineffective by failing to raised pursudrivolous objections.
Defendant has failed to establish either prejudice or ineffective assistanc
V. CONCLUSION

The motion, together with the files and record in this case “conclusively showhéhat
prisoner is entitled to no relief28 U.S.C.8 2255%b). Defendant’s conviction and sentence are
valid; therefore, lbr motion to vacate(D.E. 1) is DENIED. Judgment shall be entered for the
United States.

Pursuant to 28 15.C. § 2253(¢) and (2) the district courts requiredto evaluate the
appealability of its decision denying82255 motion and to issue a certificate of appealability
(“COA”) “only if the applicant has made a substantial showing of the denial of éitatonsal
right.” See also Fed. R. App. P. 22(bNo § 2255 movant may appeal without this certificate.

A COA may issue only if the movahhas made a substantial showing of the denial of a
constitutional right, and the COA mustindicatethe specific issuer issueqthaf satisfy the
required showing28 U.S.C.8 2253(c)(2),(3). A “substantial showing” is made when the
movant demonstrates that “reasonable jurists could debate whether (or,t foratter, agree
that) the petition should have been resolved in a different manner or that the iessedepr
were adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed fuihBer-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S.
322, 336 (2003) (citatioommitted) (internal quotation markemitted); see also Henley v. Bell,
308 F. App’x 989, 990 (6th Cir. 2009) (per curiam) (same).

“[A] COA does not require a shawa that the appeal will succeédViller-El, 537 U.S.

at 337;Caldwell v. Lewis, 414 F. App’x 809, 81415 (6th Cir. 2011,)however, ourts should not
12



issue a COA a%a matte of cours€. Bradley v. Birkett, 156 F. App’x 771, 773 (6th Cir. 2005)
(per curiam)quotingMiller-El, 537 U.S. at 337).

In this case, for the reasons previously stated, Defelsdaatm lacks substantive merit
and, thereforeshe cannot present a question of some substance about which reasonable jurists
could differ.The Court therefore DENIES a certificate of appealability.

The Sixth Circuit has held that the Prison Litigatieeform Act of 1995, 28 U.S.C.
8 1915(a){b), does not apply to appeals of orders denyd®R55 motions.Kincade v.
Sparkman, 117 F.3d 949, 951 (6th Cir. 199Rather, to appeah forma pauperisin a § 2255
case, and thereby avoid the appellate filing fee required by 28 U.$X918 and 1917, the
prisoner must obtain pauper status pursuant to Fed. R. App. P.Kibh(ade, 117 F.3d at 952.
Rule 24(a) provides that a party seeking pauper status on appeal must first dtieraimthe
district court, along with a supporting affidavited. R. App. P. 24(a)(1However, Rule 24(a)
also provides that if the district court certifies that an appeal would nakbe in good faith, or
otherwise denies leave to appeaforma pauperis, the prisoner must filegn motion to proceed
in forma pauperisin the appellate courEee Fed. R. App. P. 24) (4)(5).

In this case, for the same reasons the Court denies a certificate of appgdiadi@ourt
determines that any appeal would not be taken in good flaitls. therefore CERTIFIED,
pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 24(a), that any appeal in this matter would not be taken in good faith,
and leave to appeal forma pauperisis DENIED.

If Defendant files a notice of appedhe must also pay the full $505 appellate filing, fee
see 28 U.S.C. 81913, 1917 or file a motion to proceeth forma pauperis and supporting
affidavit in the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals within thirty (30) dagee Fed. R. App. P.

24(a)4)5).
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IT IS SO ORDERED thi22ndday ofJanuary2015.

s/ J. DANIEL BREEN
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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